Journal of Education and e-Learning Research

 $Vol.\ 9,\ No.\ 2,\ 95\text{--}102,\ 2022$ ISSN(E) 2410-9991 / ISSN(P) 2518-0169 DOI: 10.20448/jeelr.v9i2.3954 © 2022 by the authors; licensee Asian Online Journal Publishing Group



A Comparative Study of the Effectiveness of Using Padlet in Distance Learning: **Viewpoint of Postgraduate Students**

Al Momani, Jehad Ali¹⁸ Abu Musa, Mofeed Ahmad²



'Department of Curricula and Teaching Methods, College of Educational and Psychological Sciences, Amman Arab University, Jordan.

Email: <u>imomani@aau.edu.jo</u>
*Department of Curricula and Teaching Methods, College of Educational and Psychological Sciences, Arab Open University, Jordan.

Email: m abumusa@aou.edu.jo

Abstract

This study focuses on Padlet and discusses some of the ways in which this web application may be used to facilitate interaction and collaboration in distance learning of Postgraduate students at two Jordanian universities. The use of Padlet is summarized in six domains: research resource gathering, class resources, class diary, FAQ, brain storming and online dialogue. In the spring semester of 2020-2021, the researchers developed an attitude scale that consisted of 20 items. The scale satisfied the validity and reliability tests. A sample of 88 participants from both universities was chosen randomly. The results showed a highly positive attitude towards Padlet as a mobile online interactive and collaborative tool. In addition, the results showed a significant difference in means of the university variables. However, there was no significant difference between the means related to gender. The study recommends training staff members on using Padlet in distance learning sessions to increase interactive and collaborative learning.

Keywords: Using padlet, Distance learning, Attitudes, Postgraduate students, Mobile learning, Web applications.

Citation | Al Momani, Jehad Ali; Abu Musa, Mofeed Ahmad (2022). A Comparative Study of the Effectiveness of Using Padlet in Distance Learning: Viewpoint of Postgraduate Students. Journal of Education and e-Learning Research, 9(2): 95-102.

History:

Received: 8 March 2022 Revised: 25 April 2022 Accepted: 12 May 2022 Published: 30 May 2022

Licensed: This work is licensed under a Creative Commons

Attribution 4.0 License (cc) BY

Publisher: Asian Online Journal Publishing Group

Funding: This study received no specific financial support.

Authors' Contributions: All authors contributed equally to the conception and design of the study.

Acknowledgement: The authors thank Amman Arab University and Arab Open University in Jordan for allowing them to conduct the research on their

Competing Interests: The authors declare that they have no conflict of

Transparency: The authors confirm that the manuscript is an honest, accurate, and transparent account of the study; that no vital features of the study have been omitted; and that any discrepancies from the study as planned

Ethical: This study followed all ethical practices during writing.

Contents

1. Introduction	6
2. Research Problem 90	6
3. Research Significance	6
4. Research Terms and Definitions9	7
5. Research Limits	
6. Literature Review and Previous Studies9	7
7. Research Methodology	8
8. Findings and Discussion	9
9. Conclusion10	1
10. Recommendation10	1
References	2

Contribution of this paper to the literature

The study adds information and knowledge to literature on the effectiveness of using the Padlet application in distance learning for postgraduate students, and reveals the strengths and weaknesses of its use during the educational process, and the extent to which this can be generalized at different stages of study.

1. Introduction

The world is witnessing rapid global technical developments in various fields, and with the spread of the Corona pandemic (COVID-19), interest in technical aspects and digital means of communication has increased, especially in the education field. Distance learning has become a mandatory requirement in all educational institutions to ensure the continuity of learning at all education levels. Consequently, educational institutions in all countries of the world have begun competing to provide educational platforms and adopting electronic applications and programs to achieve their educational goals. Smart mobile devices and their applications have become an integral part of people's lives. These have contributed significantly to bringing about enormous changes and opening global communication channels without the presence of space or time barriers. Learning has become diversified and available to everyone through internet networks and the applications of smart mobile devices, through which most learning activities can be practiced on one's own or through the teacher inside and outside the boundaries of the educational situation.

The recent development and progress of smart mobile devices has led to a noticeable increase in demand for them due to the electronic services and applications that come with them, t which contribute significantly to the improvement of the educational process. These applications are simple programs that can be run on smart phones and mobile and portable devices to provide instant interactive means through which information can be obtained in innovative ways and used in the educational process or in various other areas of life such as in social communication. On the other hand, the area of privacy has shrunk in the process and the number of hours consumed by the digital world has increased at the expense of the lives of individuals (Al-Mobaideen, 2021).

As a result of these developments, interest and focus have increased on what is known as "mobile learning." Amin and Al-Halfawi (2008), defined mobile learning as the act of using hand-held digital devices connected to wireless networks, to engage in learning activities at any time or place. Kukulska-Hulme and Shield (2008) further defined mobile learning as learning through mobile wireless devices in a participatory learning situation that is not restricted by place or time. Through these definitions, it becomes clear to us that mobile learning creates a stimulating learning environment through the use and employment of easy-to-use applications to achieve the intended educational goals. The applications of smart mobile devices that can be used in mobile learning are numerous and widespread. Among the many applications that have entered the education field is Padlet, which is a free, easy and enjoyable participatory technical tool that allows for the participation and cooperation of learners with the teacher in a visual way for everyone at all times. It is not required to be used in the education field but this study reveals the effectiveness of using Padlet in the educational process in university distance learning programs in both Amman Arab University and the Arab Open University, and the comparison between the two from the viewpoint of graduate students.

2. Problem Statement

The researchers' experiences while teaching in universities before and during distance learning practices and the differences they observed in the motivation of students towards learning revealed that students were in favor of face-to-face learning over distance learning. Educational institutions faced great challenges during the spread of the Corona pandemic, which included weak motivation among students and their follow-up on distance learning practices and the lack of interaction during synchronous and asynchronous meetings. In order to face these challenges, institutions began to compete among themselves to search for solutions to overcome these challenges, the most prominent of which was the use of interactive and participatory electronic applications and reliance on mobile learning, to encourage students to learn and contribute towards achieving interaction and increasing their motivation towards distance learning practices. Among the applications that were relied upon and employed in teaching postgraduate students at universities was the Padlet application, which was an attempt to encourage student classroom interaction and motivation, to create a participatory environment that ensures the continuity of learning during synchronous and asynchronous meetings.

The problem identified in this study can be addressed by answering the following questions:

Question 1: What is the effectiveness of using Padlet in distance learning from the viewpoint of graduate students at Amman Arab University?

Question 2: What is the effectiveness of using Padlet in distance learning from the viewpoint of postgraduate students at the Arab Open University?

Question 3: Are there statistically significant differences at the level ($\alpha = 0.05$) between the means of sample's responses on the scale of the effectiveness of using Padlet in distance learning based on the variables of university / gender?

3. Research Significance

The theoretical importance of the current study is highlighted through its contribution to related literature on distance learning and the importance of using faculty members in universities to apply Padlet in the educational process; this was implemented remotely during the second semester of the academic year 2020-2021 and the viewpoints of graduate students were recorded.

This study will be useful in revealing the strengths and weaknesses of employing the practical application of Padlet in university distance teaching practices and its effects on the motivation of graduate students towards learning, and how to improve and develop the use of this application in direct and indirect educational meetings.

4. Research Terms and Definitions

- Padlet application: A participatory web-based electronic application that can be used via computers or mobile devices, and allows the students to share their ideas by creating virtual walls and digital posters bearing specific titles with attractive backgrounds, and positive interaction with their colleagues and teachers at any time and from anywhere.
- **Mobile Learning**: It is about learning concepts and skills related to master's courses through the Padlet application via mobile devices in a distance learning environment.
- **Distance Learning**: It is intended for master's students at Amman Arab University and the Arab Open University to attend lectures scheduled for them in university courses during the semester through virtual classes via Zoom application without having a face-to-face meeting between the faculty members and the students, or between the students themselves.
- Students' attitudes towards the use of Padlet: A state of mental readiness that directs the assessment or response of students to the use of Padlet during university distance learning, and it is measured by the degree obtained by the sample members after their responses to the study tool, which is the scale prepared by the researchers.

5. Research Limits

Spatial Limits: Amman Arab University and the Arab Open University in Jordan.

Human Limits: Graduate students in the College of Educational Sciences for both Amman Arab University and the Arab Open University in Jordan.

Time limits: This study was applied in the second semester of the academic year 2020/2021.

The current study was limited to generalizing the results to the study sample, and to the tools used in the study in light of the validity and reliability of the tools, and therefore it is not possible to guarantee obtaining the same results when other tools are used.

6. Literature Review and Previous Studies

The Corona pandemic has caused several changes to the educational process, including changes in educational institutions' approaches to education by adopting learning management systems, which are at the heart of elearning. This change facilitates providing educational content via the Internet, through which information for students and parents can be updated. To teach lesson contents electronically, educational institutions use educational platforms such as: Canvas, Blackboard, Moodle and Google Classroom. Among the tools adopted by these institutions during the pandemic are virtual conferences and electronic interaction tools (applications) such Nearpod, Mentimeter, Live worksheets, Padlet and Kahoot, which help increase interaction during simultaneous learning sessions. They also allows teachers to assess their students during learning by asking questions, implementing interactive activities and using the white board to explain concepts and educational materials (Ilhan, Kaba & Sin, 2021; Lassoued, Alhendawi & Bashitialshaaer, 2020; Nenko, Kybalna & Snisarenko, 2020).

In addition to learning systems and the services they provide in the field of e-learning, reliance on mobile learning has developed to complement and support learning, to reinforce the idea of learner-centered environments that focus on the educational process and encourage self-learning, asking questions, collecting and evaluating data and cooperative learning inside and outside the educational situation to reach learning basedunderstanding. The need to increase classroom interaction and the availability of a wide variety of smart applications through mobile and portable devices during distance learning have resulted in faculty members constantly searching for the most appropriate applications during regular and asynchronous meetings, and to reveal the effectiveness of using those applications in the educational process. The increase in the number of mobile devices among members of society has led to a search for ways through which mobile learning can be used in the educational process; several applications have appeared and these can be used in learning, including the application of the digital wall or what is known as Padlet (Albbad & Huwamel, 2020). Padlet application is considered one of the wonderful and easy-to-use applications through which a virtual wall can be created on one of the topics, allowing sharing of publications on it and installing multimedia digital notes. Working on this application requires the teacher to use the Padlet website or download it from the Apple or Android store and create an account on Padlet, and then create virtual walls bearing certain titles of the required content or activity with attractive backgrounds. The teacher and his students are then allowed to participate by sending them the Padlet link to enable interaction between the student and teacher, with the student double-clicking on (+) in the padlet wall and replying to the teacher; participation is either through written texts or notes or attaching multimedia, answer files or link Via the same page that the student has opened. The teacher can easily export this work after its completion in the form of images or files (PDF, CSV, EXCEL) and share it with students or with other teachers (Al-Zahrani, 2018; Kharis, Dameria & Ebner, 2020). Padlet application is characterized by the ability to create a virtual wall with attractive backgrounds on which everything related to the topic of the wall, including images, notes, links and multimedia can be installed. The application also allows the ability to keep a copy of the work on computers in different formats, and it supports the Arabic language, and it can be used in the educational process in different ways, including: brainstorming; where the application allows the possibility to participate in the presentation of an idea or a problem by the teacher and ask students to comment on it and develop ideas and proposed solutions to them. Another means that the application provides is the possibility for the student to publish his work and scientific production in what is known as the electronic achievement file and share these files on the Padlet wall dedicated to displaying the electronic achievement files, and to provide the opportunity for all students to view all the achievement files, compare them, comment on them and record their likes, and be evaluated by their teachers.

Dewitt, Alias and Siraj (2015) conducted a study that indicated that the Padlet application is a suitable tool for learning that enables students to learn, create and exchange new ideas through cooperation and participation among themselves, as it allows students to see their colleagues' comments and ideas and participate on the padlet platform, which increases their ability to understand and comprehend. This, in turn, has generated positive attitudes among

students towards learning using this tool, and there are other studies that have been conducted on Padlet application in educational processes, as follows:

Al-Zahrani (2021) conducted a quasi-experimental study aimed at investigating the effectiveness of electronic walls (padlet) in developing skills in reading and writing during English courses in general education in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The study sample consisted of 60 first-year secondary school students at Al-Shati Secondary School in Jeddah, divided into two groups of 30 students each, the experimental group using electronic walls and the control group using the conventional method. An achievement test was prepared based on the reading and writing topics of the second unit of the Traveler course. After verifying its validity and reliability, it was applied to the two groups before and after intervention. The results, after being statistically processed with a t-test for two independent samples of the post achievement test, showed that there were statistically significant differences in favor of the experimental group, which showed the effectiveness of electronic walls in developing skills in reading and writing during the English language course. Saetra (2021) conducted a study aimed at revealing the effectiveness of using the Padlet wall in enabling collaborative mediation and online support in a statistics course. The study sample consisted of two different groups of students participating in an introductory course in statistics for economic experts. The Padlet wall was used and interacted by the students and the teacher during the learning and teaching processes, with the students participating in activities and presenting their experiences and evaluations under the supervision of the teacher. After the application, the results showed that computer-supported cooperative learning through Padlet can be an effective complement and a suitable alternative for study groups that cannot participate and interact through the conventional method.

Ansar et al. (2021) conducted a study aimed at revealing the effectiveness of implementing digital media in learning English language using Padlet. The study sample consisted of 69 students who were selected from three classes of the fifth semester of the academic year 2019-2021, who used Padlet in their learning. A qualitative approach was followed to obtain in-depth insights. Analyses of the sample responses, showed that the 69 participants were ready to join the class that used Padlet as a learning tool, but their answers on motivation varied on learning using the Padlet. The results also showed the necessity of shifting, in light of the current situation of the Corona pandemic, from traditional learning to the default mode to create an environment conducive to learning.

Dianati, Nguyen, Dao, Iwashita and Vasquez (2020) conducted a study aimed at revealing university students' perceptions of the technological tools for flipped learning represented by padlet, Kahoot and Cirrus. To achieve the aim of the study, the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) was adopted by Venkatesh & Davis who conducted group interviews for the study members. The results of these interviews revealed differences in students' perceptions of the degree to which the use of each of these tools impact flipped learning. Some of them showed that Padlet is useful for both independent and collaborative learning, but is less user-friendly when there is a lot of content. Kahoot is the most useful and easiest to use for reviewing acquired concepts, while Cirrus is easy to use but is less useful for creative tasks. Kharis et al. (2020) conducted a study aimed at revealing students' perceptions of using Internet technology in learning and their acceptance of the Padlet platform as a micro-codification platform for writing skills of the German language. The study sample consisted of 21 students (2 males and 19 females) aged 19-22 years. To achieve the goal of the study, open and closed questionnaires were constructed and after verifying their validity and reliability, they were administered to the study members. The results showed that the students had positive perceptions of the use of Internet technology in learning. However, they did not accept Padlet as a micro-blogging platform to learn German writing skills due to several factors, including the weakness of the Internet and the existence of phone devices that do not support the use of Padlet. In order to overcome these obstacles, it is necessary to provide students with modern equipment, technical environments and smart phones.

Ab Hamid, Rosli and Yunus (2019) conducted a study aimed at identifying the effectiveness of electronic walls in acquiring linguistic vocabulary and students' attitudes towards its use. The study sample consisted of 30 students from the town of Mersing in Malaysia. To achieve the aim of the study, two tools were used, the achievement test and a questionnaire to measure students' attitudes. The results showed the effectiveness of electronic walls in acquiring linguistic vocabulary and there were positive attitudes towards its use by the students.

Abdel-Fattah and Khalaf (2019) conducted a descriptive study aimed at knowing the extent of the use of the Padlet digital wall and its educational applications in primary schools. The study sample consisted of 200 male and female teachers. To achieve the goal of the study, a questionnaire consisting of 21 items was prepared and distributed on four domains which included understanding and absorbing knowledge through the digital wall, the teaching methods used in it, the communication mechanism and the applications of the digital wall. After verifying the validity and reliability of the study tool, it was applied to the study sample. The results showed that 13 items were verified, distributed over the four domains, compared to 8 items that were not achieved through the digital wall. Based on the results, the study recommended the use of Padlet in different systems on different domains and samples.

The past studies reviewed here clearly agree on the importance of employing the Padlet wall in the educational process, particularly in areas of learning reading and writing skills, such as the studies by Al-Zahrani (2021); Abdel-Fattah and Khalaf (2019) and Ab Hamid et al. (2019). It is also shown through previous studies, such as the study by Saetra (2021) and Ab Hamid et al. (2019) that there are positive attitudes among students towards the use of Padlet in learning. However, the results of Kharis et al. (2020) showed negative attitudes among students and their unwillingness to use Padlet in learning writing skills due to technological and technical reasons.

As for the methodology used in the studies reviewed above, most of them have employed the quasi-experimental method to identify the effectiveness of using the Padlet application. The current comparative study aims to reveal the effectiveness of using the padlet wall in remote university teaching among graduate students from the perspective of the students themselves from two different universities, and this area has not been investigated in previous studies.

7. Research Methodology

In line with the study's aim and research questions, the descriptive analytical approach was applied to an intentional sample of graduate students in two universities in Jordan, the Amman Arab University and the Arab Open University.

7.1. Research Sample

The study sample consisted of (88) male and female graduate students who were intentionally selected from two private universities in Jordan, Amman Arab University and the Arab Open University, and the number of sample members selected from each university was (44) students in their second semester of the academic year 2020/2021.

7.2. Research Tool

A scale on attitudes towards the use of padlet in distance learning was prepared by researchers, consisting of 20 items, and the validity of the scale was verified by presenting it to a group of 7 specialized referees. The internal consistency of the scale was also verified using Cronbach alpha coefficient, where the reliability coefficient was 0.86, which is acceptable for research purposes.

8. Findings and Discussion

To answer the first and second research questions, the arithmetic means and standard deviations of the students' responses on the trends scale were calculated.

An arithmetic mean greater than or equal to 3.5 was considered to represent a high trend towards the item; an arithmetic mean ranging between 2.5 - 3.5 was considered to represent a moderate trend while a mean of less than 2.5 was considered to represent a weak trend towards the item.

* Results for Question 1 and discussion: What is the effectiveness of using Padlet in distance learning from the viewpoint of graduate students at Amman Arab University?

To answer this question, the arithmetic means and standard deviations of the responses of Amman Arab University students were calculated on the scale of attitudes towards Padlet application in distance learning, as shown in Table 1. It is noted from Table 1 that graduate students at Amman Arab University have high positive attitudes towards the use of padlet in distance learning, which was applied interactively in their university education by the researcher for the first time, in their second semester of the academic year 2020-2021. This indicates that the use of padlet in distance education was effective from their point of view. It gave them the opportunity to hold dialogues, interact, express their opinions and ideas about educational content and publish them on the padlet wall, as well as compare and comment on them. The items that indicated that the use of padlet application allows students to exchange experiences while learning, encourages them to take initiative and compete with their colleagues in presenting new ideas, and helps them to diversify in presenting ideas and increases their motivation towards gaining new experiences came in the advanced ranks with a high arithmetic mean ranging between 3.55-4.80. On the other hand, their attitudes towards using the application were moderate at all levels of study, and this may be attributed to their belief that the application requires students to have good technical skills or good computer experience. The eighth item related to causing embarrassment when the students present their ideas in front of their colleagues ranked last with a low mean of 2.43.

Table 1. Arithmetic means and standard deviations of Amman Arab University student's responses on the scale of attitudes towards the use of Padlet in distance learning, ranked in descending order.

Degree	Std. Deviation	Mean	Items					
High	0.550	4.800	1- The use of padlet allows the exchange of experiences between students.					
High	0.480	4.770	6-It encourages me to take the initiative and compete with my colleagues in presenting new ideas.					
High	0.490	4.750	13- Diversifying the presentation of ideas on the padlet wall increases my motivation to gain new experiences and knowledge.					
High	0.650	4.750	5-The Padlet encourages me to learn more electronic skills and applications.					
High	0.500	4.730	2- The use of padlet in teaching raises enthusiasm and interaction among students.					
High	0.570	4.660	5- Employing padlet in teaching allows students to acquire electronic ommunication skills.					
High	0.530	4.640	4-The use of padlet helps me understand the educational content.					
High	0.620	4.610	20- Participating in the use of the padlet application encourages me to employ it in my field of work.					
High	0.690	4.590	14-Using the padlet application in teaching encourages students to interact and participate outside lecture time.					
High	0.590	4.570	16- Employing padlet in teaching is an appropriate way to evaluate students' performance remotely.					
High	0.700	4.570	12- The teacher's use of the padlet application increases my self-confidence.					
High	0.620	4.570	10- There is a need to use padlet as a means of presentation and discussion in all subjects.					
High	0.550	4.570	7- The padlet application is an appropriate way to detect individual differences between students.					
High	0.760	4.480	3- The padlet application allows the teacher to practice brainstorming with students.					
High	0.660	4.450	9- The padlet application gives me the opportunity to discuss and express my opinion on the subject.					
High	0.700	4.450	17- The success of using padlet depends on the technical skills and management of the teacher.					
High	0.860	3.950	19- Using this application requires students to have technical skills.					
High	1.250	3.550	11- Participation on the padlet wall does not require students to have technical skills.					
Medium	1.190	3.270	18- It is difficult to employ padlet application in all the different educational levels.					
Low	1.250	2.430	8- The teacher's use of padlet causes me embarrassment in presenting my ideas to colleagues.					
High	0.400	4.360	Total					

The above results explain that the remote padlet application has enabled students and encouraged all of them to participate and interact more by commenting on the ideas presented on the padlet wall and discussing and voting on

them, especially those who suffer from fear or embarrassment with colleagues during their face-to-face learning, since the majority of the study sample members are females at a percentage of approximately 80% of the total sample. These results agree with the results of Donaldson et al. (2017); Ab Hamid et al. (2019) and Ansar et al. (2021) which indicated that there are positive attitudes towards using padlet application in distance learning and the need to activate it to achieve interaction between students in the educational process.

* Results for research question 2 and discussion: What is the effectiveness of using Padlet in distance learning from the viewpoint of postgraduate students at the Arab Open University?

To answer this question, the arithmetic means and standard deviations of the responses of the Arab Open University students were calculated on the scale of attitudes towards the use of padlet, as shown in Table 2.

Table 2. Arithmetic means and standard deviations of the responses of Arab Open University students on the scale of attitudes towards the use of Padlet in distance learning, ranked in descending order.

Degree	Std. Deviation	Mean	Item					
High	0.500	4.450	2- The use of padlet in teaching raises enthusiasm and interaction among students.					
High	0.710	4.320	1- The use of padlet allows the exchange of experiences between students.					
High	0.460	4.300	3- The padlet application allows the teacher to practice brainstorming with students.					
High	0.450	4.270	O- Participating in the use of the Padlet application encourages me to employ it in y field of work.					
High	0.440	4.250	5- Employing padlet in teaching allows students to acquire electronic ommunication skills.					
High	0.580	4.250	5- The padlet encourages me to learn more electronic skills and applications.					
High	0.550	4.200	14-Using padlet application in teaching encourages students to interact and participate outside lecture time.					
High	0.540	4.180	6- It encourages me to take the initiative to compete with my colleagues in presenting new ideas.					
High	0.640	4.160	17- The success of using padlet depends on the skills and management of the technical teacher.					
High	0.530	4.160	13- Diversifying the presentation of ideas on the padlet wall increases my motivation to gain new experiences and knowledge.					
High	0.540	4.110	9- The padlet application a gives me the opportunity to discuss and express my opinion on the subject.					
High	0.730	4.070	4-Using padlet helps me understand the educational content.					
High	0.460	4.020	12- The teacher's use of padlet enhances my self-confidence.					
High	0.650	3.950	10- There is a need to use padlet as a means of presentation and discussion in all subjects.					
High	0.780	3.840	7- padlet is an appropriate way to reveal individual differences between students.					
High	0.960	3.840	11- Participation on the padlet wall does not require technical skills for students.					
High	0.810	3.640	16- Employing exchanges in teaching is an appropriate way to evaluate students' performance remotely.					
Medium	1.050	3.300	18- It is difficult to employ padlet application in all the different educational levels.					
Medium	1.140	2.840	19- Using this application requires students to have technical skills.					
Medium	1.080	2.660	8- The teacher's use of padlet causes me embarrassment in presenting my ideas to colleagues.					
High	0.290	3.940	Total					

It is noted from Table 2 that the students of the Arab Open University have high positive attitudes towards the use of the padlet application in distance learning, which has already been practiced and practically applied by them during previous semesters and in different ways. This university has been practicing distance learning since its establishment.

The items that indicate that the use of this application in teaching initiates enthusiasm and interaction between them and their colleagues and teachers, helps to exchange experiences among them, enables the teacher to practice brainstorming and encourages them to employ it in the practical field during their work as teachers in schools topped the ranks with high arithmetic means. However, their attitudes towards the employment of the application were moderate at all levels of study and this may be due to their belief that the application requires students to have good technical skills or good computer experience.

The eighth item related to causing embarrassment when the students present their ideas in front of their colleagues came last in the ranks, with an average mean of 3.30. This result explains that padlet application which is shared remotely has enabled students and encouraged all of them to participate and interact more and express their opinions with confidence and comment on the presented ideas on the padlet wall, especially the students who were suffering from fear and embarrassment while answering in a face-to-face manner, since the majority of the study sample members were females making up 77 % of the total sample This result is in agreement with the results of the study by Ab Hamid et al. (2019) and Ansar et al. (2021) which indicate that there are positive trends towards the use of padlet application and the need to activate it to achieve interaction between students in the educational process.

Results for research question 3 and discussion: Are there statistically significant differences at the level ($\alpha = 0.05$) between the means of sample's responses on the scale of the effectiveness of using Padlet in distance learning based on the variables of university / gender?

To answer this question, a t-test was conducted to compare the average responses of Amman Arab University students and those of the Arab Open University based on the university / gender variables. Table 3 and 4 show the values of the (t) test of each of these variables.

Table 3. Means, standard deviation and t-test results for students' attitudes based on the university variable.

University	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)
Amman Arab University	44	4.3580	0.39926	5.591	86	0.000
Arabic Open University	44	3.9409	0.29220			

Table 3 shows that there is a statistically significant difference between the averages of the responses of the students from the two universities in favor of the Amman Arab University students. This may be explained by the fact that teachers of Arab Open University are constantly using padlet application and other interactive applications and multimedia, since it has been a university specializing in distance education since its establishment, and this may lead to a kind of familiarity that has contributed to affecting the results compared with the students of Amman Arab University who d used this application for the first time while they were learning and therefore their attitudes towards using it were more positive. The presence of positive attitudes among students in both universities towards learning through padlet may be attributed to the fact that it was used interactively, as students were given the opportunity to comment on the ideas of their colleagues that were written and published on the padlet wall, and to express their opinions about them and vote on them, and make comparisons between these ideas and the extent of their differentiation and evaluation by the teacher and students. This is what prompted the students to be serious about participating and interacting with what was presented on the padlet wall and presenting their ideas to gain the admiration of those interacting with them. Therefore, it can be said that using padlet with students in both universities gave them the opportunity to initiate and participate in distinguishing ideas and follow up on the ideas presented and benefit from them and use them to achieve an understanding of the educational content. Subsequently, this is what led to an increase in the degree of positivity among Amman Arab University students. This result may be attributed to the fact that this experience is new to them and they were not entrusted to work on it previously as the students of the Arab Open University. It was good quality experience for them and not a routine that was made available to them during learning by the teacher, with reinforcement and encouragement for them to participate and interact continuously with what is presented to them on the padlet wall. This result is consistent with the results of previous studies such as the study by Donaldson et al. (2017) whose results indicated the positive impact of using educational technologies such as Padlet application, Twitter and Wikispaces on student learning and collaborative participation among them.

 Table 4. Means, standard deviation and t-test results for students' attitudes based on the gender variable.

Gender	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)
Female	69	4.1790	0.40397	1.306	86	0.195
Male	19	4.0421	0.40663			

Table 4 shows that there is no statistically significant difference between the averages of students' responses based on the gender variable, and this indicates that gender is not a variable that has an effect on the trend towards application because both genders used the application in distance learning according to the specific requirements and tasks given by the teacher without discriminating between the students. This result agrees with the results of previous studies such as Saetra (2021) whose results showed that the majority of participating students indicated the importance and effectiveness of padlet application in their learning, and this confirms the extent to which students, male and female, need such an application and other applications to achieve tangible effects and a positive impact on the educational process.

9. Conclusion

Among the challenges faced by educational institutions during the Corona pandemic in distance education, the most prominent was the weak motivation of students and their follow-up to distance learning and the lack of interaction during synchronous and asynchronous meetings. In order to meet these challenges, educational institutions began to compete with each other to search for solutions that contribute to reducing these challenges and increasing the effectiveness of distance learning. One of the most prominent of these solutions was the use of interactive and participatory electronic applications and reliance on mobile learning while students learn to improve their attitudes towards distance learning and increase their use of it. In this study, the focus was on the padlet application and its effectiveness in achieving classroom interaction and motivation towards distance learning among university students after they were taught using it for one semester. The study sample was given the opportunity through this application to participate and interact through the padlet wall at all times and exchange experiences and ideas related to the academic content, to achieve understanding and assimilation. The application also allowed students to publish and share their work and scientific contributions contained in the student's electronic achievement file on the padlet wall designated for them by the teacher, and to view these works, comment on them, compare them, record their likes and have them evaluated by the teacher. The application also made it possible for students to participate in the exchange wall in asking questions and discussing related contents. The current study has tried to highlight the need to search for interactive electronic applications, try them and verify the extent of their effectiveness in distance education, and show the results and recommendations related to their practical application to contribute to the development of t distance learning and achieve the desired educational goals. It was found through this study that there were high positive attitudes among students towards the use and employment of this application in distance learning, which was represented through their increase in classroom interaction and motivation towards distance learning. This indicates the need to pay attention to this and other interactive applications, and to train teachers on how to use them in the teaching process.

10. Recommendation

Based on the results of the study, the researchers recommend the following:

Training faculty members and students to use and employ padlet interactively during the teaching process.

The necessity of educating faculty members in using padlet in educational lectures.

Conducting research with similar interactive applications to maintain the continuity of students' learning motivation.

Conducting more descriptive and quasi-experimental studies on the use of interactive electronic applications such as padlet application and its impact on students' motivation and achievement towards learning.

References

- Ab Hamid, A., Rosli, L. N., & Yunus, M. M. (2019). Wall attack in padlet in enhancing vocabulary acquisition. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 9(1), 563-572. Available at: https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v9-i1/5458.
- Abdel-Fattah, R., & Khalaf, H. (2019). The digital padlet wall and its educational applications in primary schools. *The Arab Journal of Educational and Psychological Sciences*, 3(7), 223-205.
- Al-Mobaideen, I. (2021). The digital world in Jordan is two decades of rapid change, Al-Ghad Newspaper, March 28-2021.
- Al-Zahrani, S. A. (2018). Padlet and innovative ways to use it in the classroom, New Education Blog. Retrieved from https://www.new-educ.com/about-us. [Accessed 9-16-2021].
- Al-Zahrani, F. K. (2021). The effectiveness of electronic walls (Padlet) in developing the skills of reading and writing in the English language course for first-year secondary students. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Studies Sultan Qaboos University*, 15(1), 167-155.
- Albbad, A., & Huwamel, H. (2020). The effect of using padlet as a vocabulary enhancement application on Saudi EFL. Female learners, and their attitudes toward its value in learning. *Arab World English Journal*(6), 327-378. Available at: https://doi.org/10.24093/awej/call6.24.
- Amin, Z., & Al-Halfawi, W. (2008). Standards for mobile learning. Paper presented at the Ninth Scientific Conference AlMansora University (in Arabic). April 29-30.
- Ansar, F. A., Puspita, N., Darwissyah Irwan, D., Hasyim, U. A. A., Soepriyadi, D. N., & Astri, Z. (2021). How the implementation of digital media in English using padlet?: Qualitative exploration interactively. *Elementary Education Online*, 20(4), 60-76.
- Dewitt, D., Alias, N., & Siraj, S. (2015). Collaborative learning: Interactive debates using Padlet in a higher education institution. Paper presented at the International Educational Technology Conference (IETC 2015), 27-29 May, Istanbul, Turkey.
- Dianati, S., Nguyen, M., Dao, P., Iwashita, N., & Vasquez, C. (2020). Student perceptions of technological tools for flipped instruction: The case of Padlet, Kahoot! and Cirrus. *Journal of University Teaching and Learning Practice*, 17(5), 52-66. Available at: https://doi.org/10.53761/1.17.5.4.
- Donaldson, L., Matthews, A., Walsh, A., Brugha, R., Manda-Taylor, L., Mwapasa, V., & Byrne, E. (2017). Collaborative tools to enhance engagement in a blended learning master's programme. *All Ireland Journal of Higher Education*, 9(1), 2921-29220.
- Ilhan, G. O., Kaba, G., & Sin, M. (2021). Usage of digital comics in distance learning during COVID-19. International Journal on Social and Education Sciences, 3(1), 161-179. Available at: https://doi.org/10.46328/ijonses.106.
- Kharis, K., Dameria, C., & Ebner, M. (2020). Perception and acceptance of padlet as a microblogging platform for writing skills. International Association of Online Engineering. Retrieved from https://www.learntechlib.org/p/217848/.
- Kukulska-Hulme, A., & Shield, L. (2008). An overview of mobile assisted language learning: From content delivery to supported collaboration and interaction. *Recall*, 20(3), 271-289. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1017/S0958344008000335.
- Lassoued, Z., Alhendawi, M., & Bashitialshaaer, R. (2020). An exploratory study of the obstacles for achieving quality in distance learning during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Education Sciences*, 10(9), 232-242. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10090232.
- Nenko, Y., Kybalna, N., & Snisarenko, Y. (2020). The COVID-19 distance learning: Insight from Ukrainian students. Brazilian Journal of Rural Education, 5, e8925-e8925. Available at: https://doi.org/10.20873/uft.rbec.e8925.
- Saetra, H. S. (2021). Using padlet to enable online collaborative mediation and scaffolding in a statistics course. *Education Sciences*, 11(5), 219.Available at: https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11050219.

Asian Online Journal Publishing Group is not responsible or answerable for any loss, damage or liability, etc. caused in relation to/arising out of the use of the content. Any queries should be directed to the corresponding author of the article.